1979

Imperial-Yum Production Credit Association v. Earl Hunter and Lavon Hunter et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action by Imperial-Yuma against Earl and LaVon Hunter to recover an amount alleged to be owing on account under a level line of credit arrangement evidenced by a promissory note together with attorney's fees. Involved is the accuracy of an accounting prepared by

Imperial-Yuma and debtor identification. Also involved is the propriety of an award of attorney's fees to Imperial-Yuma where a counterclaim with multiple issues was involved with no effort being made to segregate the legal services rendered in connection with the counterclaim and other matters.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the court without a jury. The District Court awarded Plaintiff judgment against Defendants, Earl Hunter and LaVon Hunter, jointly and severally, in the sum of \$9,135.93, together with attorney's fees in the sum of \$4,000.00 and costs.

At the time of the trial, the Third Party Defendants, GLS Livestock Management, Inc. and George L. Smith, were bankrupt and, accordingly, the Defendants' Third Party Complaint was not pursued.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants-Appellants, Earl Hunter and LaVon Hunter, seek a reversal of the judgment of the trial court by eliminating all charges against an "Earl H. Hunter" and eliminating the award for attorney's fees.

IDENTIFICATION OF THE PARTIES AND EXPLANATION OF ABBREVIATIONS

Earl Hunter and Lavon Hunter, his wife, Defendants and Appellants, are herein referred to as the "Defendants," or where appropriate, by their names. Imperial-Yuma Production Credit Association,

the Plaintiff and Respondent, is herein referred to as the Plaintiff or where appropriate, as "Imperial-Yuma". Third party Defendants GLS Live-stock Management, Inc. and George L. Smith are referred to herein as "GLS" and "Smith", respectively.

"R" refers to a page reference in the record of the case.

"T" refers to a page reference in the transcript of the case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Imperial-Yuma is seeking to recover from Earl Hunter and LaVon Hunter (his wife) \$5,439.41 and interest under a level line of credit arrangement evidenced by a promissory note together with attorney's fees.

Earl Hunter and his wife contend that the accounting prepared and submitted by Imperial-Yuma contains charges for which the Defendant Earl Hunter and his wife are not responsible, and that the accounting submitted involves a mistake in debtor identification; that specifically, the Defendant, Earl Hunter is being improperly charged for amounts owed by some other person named "Earl H. Hunter".

Defendants Earl Hunter and LaVon Hunter contend that the Plaintiff's own accounting and supporting documentation show that there is nothing owed to Imperial-Yuma.

Defendants Earl Hunter and LaVon Hunter further contend that Imperial-Yuma failed to comply with Defendants' power of attorney in charging Defendants' account for drafts drawn by Smith on "Earl H. Hunter".

Furthermore, Earl Hunter and LaVon Hunter contend that the trial court erred in awarding an attorney's fee of \$4,000 to Imperial-

It is in view of the fact that there was no effort made by counsel for the Plaintiff to segregate his services rendered to recover on the account from those services rendered in connection with the defense of a counterclaim involving multiple issues and those services rendered in connection with other matters.

The background facts are as follows: In 1973 the Defendants, Earl and LaVon Hunter, invested in a cattle feeding operation -- GLS. Earl Hunter was contacted at the outset by Smith (T-119) who was engaged in the cattle feeding and cattle investment business (T-6). Earl Hunter eventually put \$15,000 into the deal (T-120), which was the total amount that Earl Hunter was to have invested (T-120-124). It was Smith who put together and managed the cattle feeding pool (T-7).

Imperial-Yuma is a finance company operating in the Imperial Valley of California (T-5, 84). The company loaned money to those who invested in cattle feeding operations (T-41). It has no offices nor personnel in the State of Utah (T-84). Its dealings with Earl Hunter were through Smith and one John Q. Midgley (T-69), the latter being Earl Hunter's accountant. Imperial-Yuma generally dealt with customers through men like Smith (T-44), though one of the documents prepared by Imperial-Yuma (Exhibit 9) provided that Smith was "not an agent for Imperial-Yuma".

Earl Hunter and his wife were given a level line of credit for some thirty thousand dollars (T-38), evidenced by a promissory note

(Exhibit 6), though there was never any loan to the Hunters for that amount (T-38-39).

One particular document (Exhibit 8, Appendix A) authorized Imperial-Yuma to pay drafts drawn on Earl Hunter which were signed by Smith. This particular document was essentially a power of attorney. It contained the following language:

This will be your authority to pay drafts drawn on Earl Hunter and signed by George L. Smith, whose specimen signature appears below.

This document was signed by Earl Hunter and LaVon Hunter and contained the specimen signature of Smith (Exhibit 8), (T-18). This document (Exhibit 8) constituted Smith's sole authority (T-84, 85). The document was treated by Imperial-Yuma as an authorization by Earl Hunter and his wife, authorizing Imperial-Yuma to pay to Smith drafts drawn by Smith on Earl Hunter in connection with the loan (T-18).

There was no direct contact between Earl Hunter and Imperial-Yuma (T-44, 69). No one in the Imperial-Yuma office had any direct contact with Hunter in generating the loan (T-37-38). Imperial-Yuma never dealt with borrowers directly. They got authorizations to deal with people like Smith (T-44). Dealings between Imperial-Yuma and Hunter were through Smith (T-128). Imperial-Yuma sent the papers to Earl Hunter and his wife through Smith (T-69). Smith was the contact (T-43, 69).

Smith issued drafts and then went to his bank; his bank then sent them to Imperial-Yuma's bank; and Imperial-Yuma's bank then

inquired of Imperial-Yuma as to whether or not Imperial-Yuma wanted to pick up the drafts or not. Thereupon, Imperial-Yuma would issue a check out of or against Earl Hunter's account to pay the particular draft. It may have been for cattle or feed or it might have been for medicine or whatever (T-18). It was Smith who had the information and filled in the items of information called for on the drafts (T-64).

There came a time when Hunter wanted to get out of the deal (T-126). He so notified Imperial-Yuma (T-126). Imperial-Yuma told Hunter that he could get out, that he owed \$3,900, and that if he wanted to discontinue the program he would have to pay the \$3,900 (T-126).

Earl Hunter had his accountant write to Imperial-Yuma and tell them that Hunter wanted to get out but needed an accounting (T-126, 127). Hunter later received a letter from Thomas Heim (Imperial's attorney) stating that they were going to file suit (T-127). Thereupon, on June 13, 1975, Earl Hunter wrote to Thomas Heim (Exhibit 23) indicating that they, the Hunters, had been trying to get out of the program and needed an accounting to resolve discrepancies in the claims for the amount owed. At one point some \$4,000 had been claimed. In April of 1975, \$7,366.66 was claimed, and at the time of the lawsuit, Imperial-Yuma was claiming \$5,439.41 together with interest and attorneys fees (T-78, 126, and Exhibit 23).

Prior to and at the time of the lawsuit, there was a dispute regarding the number of head of cattle (T-84). The dispute concerned some twenty-odd head (T-84, 97). Imperial-Yuma was not clear on the status of the cattle when the question was first raised, but in the

course of the litigation Exhibit 19 was eventually prepared by Imperial-Yuma (T-85), as a full accounting of the entire deal. It was prepared for Imperial's benefit in order to expedite the collection of the loan (T-85). Claude Nichols of Imperial-Yuma prepared the summary (T-76), realizing that there was a dispute as to the number of cattle. The accounting prepared by Imperial-Yuma purports to show all of the charges against and credits allowed to Earl Hunter.

At the trial Imperial-Yuma submitted Exhibit 18 as containing all of the receipts and credits allowed to Earl Hunter (T-39). Mr. Nichols, testifying for Imperial-Yuma, stated that Exhibit 18 represented credits to which Earl Hunter was entitled (T-66). Nichols was not aware of any disputes with respect to the accuracy of the credits (T-67). In fact, counsel for Imperial-Yuma stipulated at the trial that Exhibit 18 contained credits that Earl Hunter was entitled to (T-67).

Exhibit 16 was introduced by Imperial-Yuma as containing all of the charges by way of draft or loan which were made against Earl Hunter's account (T-33). Exhibit 16 was the basis for the charges set forth on Exhibit 19 (T-34). With respect to the charges (Exhibit 16), it was Smith who filled in the information on the drafts and then sent them in the commercial stream to Imperial-Yuma for payment (T-64).

In examining Exhibit 16, however, it is apparent that that exhibit contains charges not just against the Defendant, Earl Hunter, but also charges against an "Earl H. Hunter".

There is no question about the identity and name of the Defendant, Earl Hunter. "Earl Hunter" is his full name (T-118). He has

no middle initial or middle name and does not use any. The Defendant is simply Earl Hunter (T-118). His wife's name is LaVon W. Hunter. She sometimes goes by the name of LaVon Hunter (T-118). All of the documentation relating to the initiation of the transaction attests to the fact that it was Earl Hunter who was involved and not "Earl H. Hunter". See, for example, Exhibits 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 (Appendix A), 9, 10, 11, 15, and 22.

In spite of the preciseness of Exhibit 8 (Appendix A) with respect to drawing of drafts for "Earl Hunter", Imperial-Yuma accepted drafts drawn by Smith for an "Earl H. Hunter" and charged the same to the Defendant Earl Hunter (Exhibit 16), without making any effort whatsoever to contact Hunter (T-58). Imperial-Yuma's own witness, however, Claude Nichols, admitted that Imperial-Yuma had a duty, and that it would have been prudent for it to report to Earl Hunter and inquire about it (T-94-95). Earl Hunter testified that had he been contacted by Imperial-Yuma with respect to the irregularity and the drawing of funds for persons other than himself, he would have cancelled the power forthwith (T-122-123). And the witness for Imperial-Yuma conceded that if they been told not to honor the agency granted by Hunter, that he (Hunter) was revoking it, they would have honored the request (T-95).

Imperial-Yuma's own witness (Claude Nichols), on cross-examination, admitted that he did not know how monies advanced by Imperial-Yuma (T-93) were used by Smith.

Smith was involved in many cattle feeding pools and many deals all across the country (T-51). At the time of Hunter's dealings,

Imperial-Yuma had about thirty-four (34) loans of the type involving Earl Hunter -- transactions with Smith (T-41, 42, 47). Imperial-Yuma did not have any way of knowing how many loans it would have had at any time involving Smith; they did not keep track of the number (T-43). Imperial-Yuma was financing only a portion of Smith's cattle feeding pools (T-51). Imperial-Yuma was probably in five or six other pools right in that area (T-51, 52). The number of people in the various pools would differ (T-52) and would involve people throughout the United States (T-52) and, in addition to that, there are a number of other pools that Smith might have had that were being financed with other companies or where other investors were involved (T-52). Mr. Richter of Imperial-Yuma did not have any idea how many other pools with other investors might have been involved (T-52). Imperial-Yuma could have been dealing with some thirty-two (32) pools (T-72) through Smith (T-42). How many people named "Hunter", with whom Smith might have been dealing throughout the country, we will never know.

The promissory note evidencing the level line of credit extended to Earl and LaVon Hunter provided for attorney's fees (Exhibit 6).

At the conclusion of the Plaintiff's case, counsel for Imperial-Yuma delineated the service he had rendered and stated that a fair attorney's fee in this matter would be \$7,164, based upon his time involvement (T-103-105); however, he made no allocation with respect to the prosecution of the action for recovery on account and the defense of the Counterclaim (T-110). The Counterclaim embraced multiple

causes of action and generally centered on fraud and security violations (T-108). Smith, Imperial-Yuma, and GLS Livestock were all joined as Defendants (R-52). The Counterclaim raised serious issues. As a matter of fact, if Hunter had been successful in that action, it would have eclipsed the complaint being prosecuted (T-109). The issues involving the sale of securities were very serious (T-109). There was also a Motion to Certify a Class (T-116). Counsel for Imperial recalled that there was not only a Counterclaim but a Motion to Certify a Class and he supposed that the total amount of recovery that the class would have been seeking would have exceeded a million dollars. There was no question in his mind that the Counterclaim was being prosecuted seriously (T-109). Numerous other cases had been filed similar to the instant case involving Imperial-Yuma and Earl Hunter.

Nevertheless, without any allocation of time and services between matters involving the attempt to recover on the account and defending the Counterclaim and services involving other matters, and notwithstanding all of the problems that had been involved in the accounting, the trial court awarded \$4,000 attorney's fees to the Plaintiff (R-293). The Hunters contend that without any proper allocation and with no evidence supporting the same, there is no justification for the award of any legal expense whatsoever, let alone the \$4,000.

CASES CITED

	<u>Page</u>
<u>Estate of Rolater</u> , 542 P.2d 219 (Okla. 1975)	20
<u>Fox v. Grand Union Tea Co.</u> , 236 S.W.2d 561 (Tex. App. 1951). . .	16
<u>McCracken v. Citizens' National Bank of Akron</u> , 249 P. 652 (Colo. 1926)	16
<u>Memorial Hospital v. Woolf</u> , 134 A.2d 397 (R.I. 1957)	15
<u>Nelson v. Newman</u> , 583 P.2d 601 (Utah 1978)	22
<u>Seidenbach's v. Titus Radio Corp.</u> , 102 P.2d 168 (Okla. 1940) . .	19
<u>State v. Johnson</u> , 293 S.W.2d (Mo. 1956).	17
<u>Stubbs v. Hemmert</u> , 567 P.2d 168 (Utah 1977)	22
<u>Torrance National Bank v. Enesco Federal Credit Union</u> , 285 P.2d 737 (Calif. 1955).	20

TEXTS CITED

3 Am. Jur. 2d Agency §29, p.437.	20
29 Am. Jur. 2d Evidence §231, p.281.	14
65 C.J.S. Names §15, p.41.	15

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING AS CHARGES AGAINST THE DEFENDANTS, EARL HUNTER AND LAVON HUNTER, CHARGES AGAINST AN "EARL H. HUNTER". THE PLAINTIFF'S OWN EVIDENCE SHOWS THAT THE DEFENDANTS, EARL HUNTER AND LAVON HUNTER, ARE NOT INDEBTED TO THE PLAINTIFF AT ALL.

Plaintiff, in its accounting for Earl Hunter, has included charges against another person -- an "Earl H. Hunter" (Exhibit 16). Plaintiff sued Earl Hunter and LaVon Hunter but then by its own testimony and records (Exhibit 16) showed that certain charges were not attributable to Earl Hunter at all but were attributable to an "Earl H. Hunter" (see Exhibit 16).

Plaintiff's only testimony and records showed total account charges of \$30,320.86 (Exhibit 16). Of those charges, however, \$9,206.28 were for the account of "Earl H. Hunter" and not Earl Hunter as shown by Plaintiff's own documentary records. (See Exhibit 16). The only charges arguably proved against Earl Hunter by Plaintiff are those on Plaintiff's records with Earl Hunter designated as account debtor, which amount to \$21,114.58 (Exhibit 16). The Plaintiff submitted Exhibit 18 as containing all of the receipts and credits allowed to Earl Hunter (T-39).

There is no controversy with respect to the credits. Claude Nichols, testifying for Imperial-Yuma, stated that Exhibit 18

represented credits to which Earl Hunter was entitled (T-66). Nichols was not aware of any disputes whatsoever with respect to the accuracy of the credits (T-67). In fact, counsel for Imperial-Yuma stipulated at the trial that Exhibit 18 contained credits that Earl Hunter was entitled to (T-67).

Since there is no question as to the credits to which Earl Hunter is entitled, which amount to \$25,452.82 (see Exhibit 18), the credits more than offset the charges of \$21,114.58 which, again, are the only charges arguably attributable to Earl Hunter. By the Plaintiff's own testimony, accounting, and records, the Defendants Earl Hunter and LaVon Hunter owe nothing.

There is no question about the identity and the name of the Defendant Earl Hunter. Uncontroverted testimony establishes that he is "Earl Hunter" (T-118). He has no middle initial or middle name and does not use any (T-118). The defendant is simply Earl Hunter (T-118). His wife's name is LaVon W. Hunter. She sometimes goes by the name of LaVon Hunter (T-118). All of the documentation relating to the initiation of the transaction attests to the fact that it was Earl Hunter who was involved and not an "Earl H. Hunter" (see Exhibits 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 [Appendix A], 9, 10, 11, 15, and 22). Imperial-Yuma did not even attempt to prove by verbal or documentary testimony or evidence, that the Defendant Earl Hunter was one and the same person as "Earl H. Hunter".

Neither the Court nor the Defendant Earl Hunter has any way of determining who "Earl H. Hunter" is. The charges applied by Imperial-Yuma to the accounts of "Earl H. Hunter" therefore should not be assessed

to Defendant Earl Hunter; this is only fair and particularly important since all the facts pertaining to Defendant Earl Hunter's account, as well as the "Earl H. Hunter" account, were in the exclusive possession of the Plaintiff. In addition, since Smith was involved in many cattle feeding pools, deals, etc., there was every chance for confusion and mistakes (see T-51 and Statement of Facts, pages 8 and 9).

At the conclusion of the trial, after the parties had rested and immediately following the closing arguments of counsel for the respective parties, counsel for Imperial-Yuma (recognizing the confusion), moved the trial court to reopen the case to allow Plaintiff to try to establish that the Defendant Earl Hunter was "Earl H. Hunter". The court appropriately denied the motion and Plaintiff, significantly, has not appealed from that ruling. The parties have had their day in court and the time therefore has passed for Plaintiff to unravel the confusion, redo the accounting, or try and show that Earl Hunter is "Earl H. Hunter" or is liable for "Earl H. Hunter's" obligations.

In name-confusion cases, the courts have long recognized the necessity of plaintiffs establishing that the party being sued is the party actually obligated on the debt or claim. Where there is an identity of names, there is a weak presumption of identity of persons. A general statement of the law is found in 29 Am. Jur. 2d Evidence §231, p. 281:

It is generally held that identity of names gives rise to a presumption of identity of persons, or is prima facie evidence thereof. This principle has sometimes been recognized by statute

and has frequently been applied in criminal, as well as civil, proceedings. At best, however, the presumption of identity of person from identity of name is ordinarily deemed to be an inference of a slight and inconclusive character; it is a weak presumption which may be shaken by the very slightest proof of facts or showing of circumstances which produces a doubt of identity.

This presumption, however, applies only insofar as the names are identical. If the names are not identical, there arises a presumption that the names refer to different persons:

There is a presumption that names which are not the same refer to different persons [65 C.J.S. Names §15, p.41].

In Memorial Hospital v. Woolf, 134 A.2d 397 (R.I. 1957), the plaintiff, Memorial Hospital, sued the defendant, Eunice F. Kalver, for recovery of hospital fees. In its pleadings, the plaintiff identified the defendant's name as "Eunice F. Kalver." At trial, the plaintiff introduced a deposition and hospital records which evidenced that one "E. J. Kalver" had been admitted into and had received services at the plaintiff hospital. The court held that the name "Eunice F. Kalver" and the name "E. J. Kalver" lacked sufficient identity and that the presumption of identity therefore did not arise. The court stated:

The defendant Eunice F. Kalver's name on the Writ and her name in the deposition and the hospital records are different. Consequently there is lacking that similarity of names which is prima facie proof of identity. In 20 Am. Jur. Evidence §204, it is stated at

page 204: 'There is presumption of identity of persons where the names are the same, but no such presumption prevails as between the Christian name of one and the initials of another, the surnames being the same.' There is, therefore, a vital lack in the evidence against defendant Eunice [Id. at 399].

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