1979

Imperial-Yum Production Credit Association v. Earl Hunter and Lavon Hunter et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE FINDINGS AND JUDGMENT OF THE TRIAL COURT ARE SUPPORTED BY CREDIBLE EVIDENCE AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

A. Standard of Review. Defendants' appeal raises three factual issues to be reviewed by the Supreme Court: 1) whether Defendants are indebted to Plaintiff as found by the trial court; 2) whether Plaintiff wrongfully debited charges designated "Earl H. Hunter" to Defendants' loan account; and 3) whether Plaintiffs are entitled to attorney's fees as awarded by the trial court. Brief of Appellant at 12, 18, 21.

The Supreme Court has recently summarized the standard to be followed in examining factual issues on appeal, stating that: "Generally, evidence produced at trial is to be reviewed in the light most favorable to sustain the findings and judgment of the trier of fact." Rodgers v. Hansen, 580 P.2d 233, 234 (Utah 1978).

B. Defendants' Indebtedness to Plaintiff. Defendants claim that they are not indebted to Plaintiff because certain items designated "Earl H. Hunter" were improperly charged to their loan account and no evidence was produced at trial to establish that Earl Hunter, one of the Defendants, and "Earl H. Hunter" were the same person. Brief of Appellants at 12, 14. The items complained of by Defendant are (1) voucher copies of checks issued by Plaintiff to pay drafts attached thereto and (2) loan advices. T at 31-33; see Exhibit 16. The documents found in Exhibit 16 contain all of the charges made against Defendants' loan account. T at 33.

In arguing that all charges referenced "Earl H. Hunter" should be deleted from the accounting for Defendants' loan, Defendants overlook substantial evidence to the effect that all the charges and credits accounted for by Plaintiff at the time pertained to Defendants' loan account. Roy F. Richter, Branch Manager and Secretary-Treasurer of Plaintiff testified concerning the Exhibit 16 documents as follows:

Q. Would you tell us what the documents consist of?

A. The first document which is our check with our check number showing who the amount will be charged to -- in this particular case it's Mr. Hunter, of course, Mr. Earl Hunter -- the amount of the check to pay and then we have in the "Comments," to pay whatever it's issued for and then also the draft attached to the back of it to coincide with our check that was issued to take care of that particular item, as in all cases, whether it be cattle or feed. The draft -- the drafts are attached to our check on all of these.

Q. These are not your actual checks, apparently. They appear to be a voucher.

A. These are our copies of the checks that were issued to take care of this draft.

. . . .

Q. (By Mr. Dunn) Are all of the drafts which pertain to the Earl and LaVon Hunter loan included in Exhibit 16?

A. Yes.

Q. And with respect to the check vouchers, are all of those that relate to the specific draft and which relate to the Hunters' loan, are they included in Exhibit 16?

A. Yes.

Q. There are documents included in Exhibit 16 which are entitled Loan Advice. Would you describe what a Loan Advice is?

A. A Loan Advice is something -- that is a charge that's been made outside of maybe a purchase of cattle or feed or medicine. In this particular one that I'm referring to, it's for a charge of issuing insurance and insurance premium of a certain amount that is to be charged against Mr. and Mrs. Hunter for the insurance that they said that they wanted when they took the loan out and this is what this Loan Advice is in here for, because this amount is being charged against their loan to cover their insurance premium.

Q. So, is it correct that the drafts relate to purchases of cattle or feed or medicine? Is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. But the Loan Advices would relate to other charges with respect to the loan?

A. Yes. Inner office -- well, in relation to -- in relation to insurance or different things like that, yes, they will.

Q. Are all of the Loan Advices which would reflect charges against the account of Mr. and Mrs. Hunter included in Exhibit 16?

A. Yes

Q. Does Exhibit 16 in fact contain all of the charges by way of draft or Loan Advice which were made against the Hunters' account?

A. Yes. T at 31-33 (emphasis added)

Concerning Exhibit 17 Mr. Richter testified:

Q. And for what purpose were these cancelled checks issued?

A. To pick up the draft at the bank that was for a various charge that was made against Mr. Hunter's account.

Q. These checks were issued to pay the draft?

A. Right.

Q. And to pay the Loan Advice charges as well?

A. Right.

Q. Or the charges reflected by the Loan Advice?

A. Right.

Q. Now, there is attached to proposed Exhibit 17 a computer tape and also an eight and a half by eleven sheet of paper. Can you identify what those items are for us?

A. Yes. This is a list of the different charges that were to go against the different people that Mr. Smith was handling in the various pools that was paid by one check or that was paid by one draft and then when we picked the draft up at the bank we paid it with one check and then brought it back in and separated the various charges to the different accounts that it should go and this is the breakdown that's showing here.

Q. And the one check which was used to pay that particular draft, is it in the exhibit as well?

A. Yes.

Q. And the breakdown or summary at the end, does it indicate the portion of that check that was charged against the Hunters' account?

A. Yes. T at 35-36 (emphasis added)

Exhibit 18 is composed of receipts credited to Defendants' account. T at 37, 38.

Claude Elmer Nichols, Assistant Vice-President of Plaintiff and the person charged with the responsibility for maintaining Plaintiff's records, testified as follows:

Q. Have you had an opportunity specifically to review the account of Earl and LaVon Hunter?

A. Yes.

Q. Have you made a summary of your review of their account which would take -- take into consideration all of the drafts as indicated by Plaintiff's Exhibit 16, all of the credits as indicated by Plaintiff's 18 and all of the cancelled checks as indicated by Plaintiff's Exhibit 17?

A. Yes. I have.

Q. I show you now what has been marked as Plaintiff's Exhibit 19. Can you identify that for us?

A. Yes.

Q. Tell us what that is.

A. That is a summary of all of the loan transactions that transpired on the Earl Hunter account.

Q. And did you prepare that yourself?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. And in preparing that particular summary, did you in fact go through and analyze the primary documents relating to drafts, credits, cancelled checks?

A. Yes. They were prepared directly from those documents.

Q. Was there any other documentation or information source that went into your preparation of Exhibit 19?

A. Not so far as the loan balance figures are determined. The only other thing in there is the interest accrual which was -- it's not -- it's a general association figure rather than each individual loan figure. In other words, the interest accrual is made from the effective interest rate in effect at various periods of time since the loan began until the present time.

Q. The interest accrual which appears as the third page of the exhibit, was that prepared by you?

A. Yes.

Q. There appears on the bottom of page three handwriting in pencil. Who prepared that?

A. I did.

Q. And from the summary that you prepared as Exhibit 19, did you conclude -- did you make some conclusion regarding the status of the account of Mr. and Mrs. Hunter with PCA.

A. Yes, I did.

Q. And what were the conclusions that you have arrived at?

A. That the -- that the -- the principal -- the principal balance outstanding is six thousand and forty-four dollars and forty-one cents less a credit of six hundred and five dollars for B stock and the interest.

THE COURT: Credit for what?

THE WITNESS: For Association B Stock that he owned in Production Credit.

Mr. MCMURRAY: Is that six hundred five even?

THE WITNESS: Plus interest accrual to date is three thousand six hundred ninety-six dollars and two cents.

THE COURT: That figure again?

THE WITNESS: Three thousand six hundred ninety-six dollars and two cents.

Q. (By Mr. Dunn) Let me see if I understand, Mr. Nichols. The net amount of principal owing as of today's date is five thousand four hundred thirty-nine dollars and forty-one cents?

A. That's correct.

Q. And the total amount of interest outstanding as of today is three thousand six hundred ninety-six dollars and two cents?

A. That's correct. T at 76-78 (emphasis added).

The sworn testimony is clear and un rebutted that the evidence offered by Plaintiff and received by the trial court related to the loan account of the Defendants, Earl and LaVon Hunter.

While denying the validity of charges made against their account referenced "Earl H. Hunter," Defendants are eager to accept credits variously referenced "Earl Hunter, " "E. Hunter," "E. H. Hunter," "EHH" and "Hunter." T at 66-68;

Exhibit 18. Such a position is both inconsistent with Defendants' stance as to charges and contrary to the evidence. If all credits were eliminated bearing any reference other than "Earl Hunter" Defendants would lose some \$8,036.28 in credits. This may account for the failure of Defendants to raise the issue of name confusion until counsel for Defendants made his closing argument, this in spite of repeated attempts by the trial court to have Defendants identify their defenses at trial. See T at 13, 48-50.

There is consistency, nevertheless, between Plaintiff's position and the evidence produced at trial. All credits and all charges made to Defendants' account bear the reference "Hanalei," Exhibits 16 and 18. Hanalei being the name of the cattle feeding pool in which Defendants invested. T at 7. Only one Hunter appears on the Hanalei credit distribution slips. Exhibit 18.

Plaintiff through its officers, has testified without contradiction concerning the nature and amount of the Defendants' obligation. T at 86. Defendants are attempting to avoid the obligation by advancing an argument that is not supported by the evidence.

C. The Insertion of an Erroneous Middle Initial is Legally Immaterial. At common law a person's middle name or initial is not part of his legal name. E.g., Clark v. National Adjusters, Inc., 140 Colo 593, 348 P.2d 370, 372 (1959). Therefore it is of no legal consequence that a person's middle

initial is omitted, id., that his middle initial is wrong, Nelson v. District Court, 136 Colo. 467, 320 P.2d 959, 966-67 (1957) or that a middle initial is inserted where none belongs, id. at 967 (dictum). This rule is true "unless it is shown that there are two persons of the same first name and surname. . . ." Tate v. State, 104 Ga. App. 699, 1222 S.E.2d 528, 529 (1961) citation omitted). It is not enough merely to assert that a difference of middle initials indicates two different people may be intended; some evidence must be produced to substantiate that claim. Bowlin v. Freeland, 289 S.W. 721, 722 (Tex. Ct. App. 1926).

Defendants place great weight on the fact that the disputed charges are referenced "Earl H. Hunter" instead of "Earl Hunter," yet during trial they presented no evidence that a person named "Earl H. Hunter" existed apart from defendant Earl Hunter. They have only hypothesized his existence. See, e.g., Brief of Appellant at 12. Thus without showing that there is an actual, as opposed to hypothetical, dispute of identity, the Tate and Bowlin cases teach that a mistaken middle initial is legally irrelevant.

Moreover, even if the mistaken middle initial were relevant, the resulting question of identity presented a factual issue that was resolved against Defendants by the trial court in its well-supported finding that charges referenced "Earl H. Hunter" applied to "Earl Hunter," the Defendant. See Point I, Part B, supra.

POINT II

SMITH WAS THE AGENT OF DEFENDANTS AND DEFENDANTS ARE RESPONSIBLE FOR HIS CONDUCT AND DEALING WITH PLAINTIFF.

Among the loan documents executed by Defendants was a letter authorizing Plaintiff to pay drafts drawn on Earl Hunter and signed by George L. Smith. According to the terms of the letter, the authority was to remain in effect until cancelled by Defendants in writing. Exhibit 8. Said authority was never cancelled by Defendants. T at 79-81, 95, 96.

In the closing statement prepared by Plaintiff and executed by Earl Hunter, Exhibit 9, Plaintiff specifically denied any agency relationship with Smith, the clear implication being that Smith represented Defendants in the entire transaction.

Smith received funds as proceeds from the cattle feeding pool operation and submitted them to Plaintiff to be applied as credits to Defendants loan account. Exhibit 18. Defendants have acknowledged and accepted all of such credits. Smith was indubitably Defendants' agent. T at 56, 70, 122; Exhibits 8 and 9.

Whatever errors were made with respect to name identification or charges to Defendants' loan account were made by Smith, Defendants' agent. Exhibits 16 and 18).

In agency law, the general rules are well established that a principal is charged with the knowledge of his agent, 3

Am. Jur. 2d Agency §273 (1962); payment to the agent is payment to the principal, even if improperly handled by the agent, Id. at §275; as between a third party and the principal, it is the principal who must withstand a loss occasioned by the act of his agent, (Id. at §261; and the retention by the principal of benefits resulting from the act of the agent constitutes ratification by the principal of the agent's act. Id. at §283. These general rules govern the issues raised by Defendants and provide more than adequate legal bases for the decision of the trial court.

As a matter of agency law, Defendants are charged with and bound by the knowledge that certain charges and credits were being made to their loan account by designations other than "Earl Hunter and LaVon Hunter." If Defendants have suffered any loss as the result of Smith's conduct, they are solely responsible.

POINT III

THE ATTORNEY'S FEES AWARDED BY THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

The trial court made the following finding of fact:

13. Plaintiff has been required to employ counsel to prosecute its claim against defendants and to defend counterclaims filed by defendants. The sum of \$4,000.00 is a reasonable attorney's fee to be awarded to plaintiff in connection with these proceedings, exclusive of the defense of defendants' counterclaims. R at 290 (emphasis added).

Counsel for Plaintiff testified that all legal work performed for Plaintiff in this case had a reasonable value of \$7,164.00. T at 103-06. He did not make a specific allocation of time spent between Plaintiff's action on the promissory note and the defense of Defendants' counterclaims for the reason that the counterclaims and affirmative defenses raised precisely the same legal issues. T at 110.

Counsel's overall statement of time and effort was accepted by the Defendants, who raised as the only objection the question of allocation of charges between the primary case and the defense of the counterclaims. T at 106. Counsel for the Defendants stated that his purpose in cross-examining counsel for Plaintiff was to disclose ". . . some factors which we would urge should not entitle Imperial-Yuma to recover the full legal expense." T at 105 (emphasis added).

The trial court had before it the detailed testimony of counsel for Plaintiff, T at 103-11, counsel for Defendants. T at 144-48, and counsel for third party defendants Smith and GLS, T at 112-18), all relating to the allocation of counsel's time between the primary case and the defenses of the counterclaims. Having heard their testimony, as well as the arguments of Defendants that no attorney's fees be awarded for the defense of the counterclaims, the trial court found as a matter of fact that \$4,000.00 was a proper award of attorney's fees to Plaintiff for the prosecution of the primary case on the promissory note.

Defendants now urge the Court to deny any award of attorney's fees, and in support of their position, refer to the cases of Nelson v. Newman, 583 P.2d 601 (Utah 1978) and Stubbs v. Kemert, 567 P.2d 168 (Utah 1977). Neither of these cases disposes of the issues raised by Defendants.

In the Nelson case the Supreme Court ruled that the trial court's granting of attorney's fees under Rule 68(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure was improper. In dicta the court noted that the Plaintiff was contractually entitled to reasonable attorney's fees but had failed to prove how much time his attorney had spent on the collection of the plaintiff's notes as opposed to defense of the counterclaims. Nelson's general principal does not apply to the instant case, however. After hearing testimony regarding Plaintiff's attorney's fees, the trial judge made a specific finding of fact as to the attorney's fees to which Plaintiff was entitled for services performed with regard to collection of the note, "exclusive of the defense of defendants' counterclaim." R at 290.

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